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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The McClurg Building, constructed in 1857-58, is a four-story red brick structure of
Renaissance Revival design. A three-story implied central pavilion on the

front is outlined with stone quoins which curve in a round arch at the top. A similar
"pavilion" decorates the south fiacade. _Quoing enrich all four corners of the

building, too. The windows originally consisted of two narrow round-arched lancets with
- a trefoil design in the tracery under the arch. In both central "pavilions" a cast iron
spandrel of elaborate foliate design connected the second and third floor windows and a
cast iron roundel surmounted the fourth floor windows. Sometime later, probably after
the fire of 1882 which gutted the building, the windows were changed to simple, paned,
round-arched glazings.

In 1941 the openings were made smaller, rectangular sash were introduced, and the tympani
were filled with garlanded panels. Segmental parapets decorated with urns and tiny orbs

which once crowned the 'pavilions' have disappeared. The present side cornices are late

19th century replacements similar to the original.l

The most interesting feature of the exterior is its one-story cast iron store front, a
relatively early extant example of the use of cast iron fronts. Tradition states that
the brick and cast iron were shipped by boat from Buffalo, N.Y.2 The front, therefore,
may well have been cast by the Buffalo Eagle Iron Works Co., which specialized in ship-
ping westward one-story fronts of similar design.3 The rich facade is in the popular
Sansovinesque mode. Small columms supporting round-arched windows are flanked by large
pilasters supporting a denticulated and modillioned entablature. Composite capitals, .
ornate keystones, and decorative moldings enrich the design. A doorwaz and shop windows
of similar design on the south facade were removed at an unknown date.

The interior of the McClurg Building was gutted by fire in 1882.° Since then, extensive
interior alterations have occurred periodically, accompanying changes in use, which have
been varied and numerous. Around the beginning of World War I, an eating establishment
was started on the first floor. In 1918, when Peter Nelson took over the building, he

ran a cafeteria until 1924, when he converted it into a hotel and restaurant, its function
yet today. The current owners, who acquired the property in early 1975, plan some restora-
tion but no major remodeling.6 They have made changes on the first floor, moving the bar
and dining facilities into the rear and enlarging the lobby area at the front. The
establishment is to continue as basically a residential hotel. Exterior restoration has
been minimal, consisting mostly of the removal of old signs which tended to interfere
with the intrinsic attractiveness of the building.

1. Racine, Picturesque and Descriptive, (1888). An illustration shows that the roofline
had no metal cornices at that time.

2. Racine Journal-Times, July 1, 1956.

3. Telephone interview with Margot Gayle, of Friends of Cast Iron Architecture, October 1,
1976. The Buffalo Eagle Iron Works Co. began operations Jan. 1, 1854 and published
a large catalog in 1859.

4., Racine Journal-Times, c. 1962. Pictured in an article, "You've Come a Long Way, Baby!"
showing 1906 and current photographs.

5. The Racine Journal, May 10, 1882.

6. Racine Journal-Times, Feb. 1, 1975.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Architecturally, the major significance of the McClurg Building lies in its having a
one-story cast iron store front, which was almost certainly cast and shipped by the
Buffalo Eagle Iron Works Company. That company specialized in westward shipments of
single-story fronts of similar design. s2 The use of such fronts at the time of con-
struction of the McClurg Building was early in the United States and certainly rare in
Wisconsin. In addition, the building is probably one of very few Wisconsin survivals
of large buildings in the North Italian Renaissance Revival style. Since it is the
only survivor of an 1882 fire which leveled all other structures in a large surrounding
area, it is probably the oldest remaining commercial building in Racine's downtown
district.

It was built in 1857-58 by Alexander M.cClurg,3 a local banker, "as the headquarters of
the Racine, Janesville and Mississippi Railroad,"4 and continued to house railroad
offices until the time of the fire in 1882. Newspaper accounts of the time refer to it
as "the railroad building," although it was also used for other offices.”? The walls
remained good despite the fire, and not long afterward M. M. Secor purchased the building.
The interior was restored and the structure became known as the "Secor Block." "A number
of 'firsts' followed."®

Set' up in the building was the first turkish bathhouse in this section of the
country. The bathhouse was furnished with the most modern equipment available
then and continued in use until 1941. Meanwhile, the second floor was rented to
the county and was used for the first advocate's office. On the main floor the
First Bohemian Bank of America, which went out of business in less than a year,
was established. The first public library in the county was set up in the build-
ing in September of 1897, when 3,439 volumes were housed on the first floor.
The first municipal court in the county, with Judge David J. Flett presiding,
was set up on one of the upper floors at the turn of the century. Downstairs,
William C. Tiede built the county's first vaudeville theater...Tiede intro-
duced the first motion pictures to Racine and combined the movies with vaude-
ville. His first picture was '"The Great Train Robbery." An eating establishment
was moved into the first floor shortly before the outbreak of World War I.
Vocational school classes continued to be held on the second floor until 1921...
Peter Nelson, who had a record of 54 years of service in the restaurant busi-
ness in Downtown Racine, took over the building in_1918. He ran a cafeteria
until 1924, when he opened a hotel and restaurant.

Although Nelson sold the building in 1956, it continued to be known as the Nelson
Hotel until the new owners acquired it in 1975 and renamed it '245 Main Place."8 It is
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unquestionably one of Racine's most important surviving early commercial buildings
and has been designated an official Racine Landmark.

Racine Journal-Times, July 1, 1956

Gayle, Margoct, interview, Oct. 1, 1976

Christensen, "An Historic Downtown Building"

Racine Journal-Times, July 1, 1956

The Racine Journal, May 10, 1882

Christensen, op. cit.

Racine Journal-Times, July 12, 1960

Pfankuchen, David, Racine Journal-Times, Feb. 21, 1975
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9. Christensen, Charles M., "An Historic Downtown Building," typescript, n.p.,

11.

(Racine, 1949)

"Fiery Chaos!" The Racine Journal, May 10, 1882.

Gayle, Margot, telephone interview by K. E. Hundt, October 1, 1976

"Nelson Hotel Site Boasts Long List of City Firsts," Racine Journal-Times
July 12, 1960

"Peter Nelson Sells His Hotel at 245 Main St. to John Wuhrman," Racine
Journal-Times, July 1, 1956.

Pfankuchen, David, "Former Southside pair acquiring Hotel Nelson,'" Racine
Journal-Times, February 21, 1975

Racine, Picturesque and Descriptive, (Neenah, 1888)

"You've Come a Long Way, Baby!" Racine Journal-Times, date unknown (c. 1962)

Katherine E. Hundt, Architectural Historian, Historic Preservation Division
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